Case 1:21-cr-00478-ER Document 123 Filed 06/22/22 Page 1 of 6

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

e T I I I I X
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
SUPERSEDING INDICTMENT
- v. -
S1 21 Cr. 478 (ER)
TREVOR MILTON,
Defendant.
e D M e - m e - -ox
COUNT ONE

(Securities Fraud)

The Grand Jury Charges:

1. From at least in or about November 2019 through at least
in or about September 2020, in the Southern District of New York
and elsewhere, TREVOR MILTON, the defendant, willfully and
knowingly, directly and indirectly, by use of the means and
instrumentalities of interstate commerce, and of the mails and of
the facilities of national securities exchanges, used and
employed, in connection with the purchase and sale of securities,
manipulative and deceptive devices and contrivances, in violation
of Title 17, Code of Federal Regulations, Section 240.10b-5, by:
(a) employing devices, schemes, and artifices to defraud;
(b} making untrue statements of material fact and omitting to state
material facts necessary in order to make the statements made, in
the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not

misleading; and (c) engaging in acts, practices, and courses of
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business which operated and would operate as a fraud and deceit
upon persons, to wit, MILTON engaged in a scheme to defraud
investors in Nikola through false and misleading statements
regarding the company’s product, technology, and business
development.
(Title 15, United States Code, Sections 787 (b) and 78ff; Title
17, Code of Federal Regulations, Section 240.10b-5; and Title

18, United States Code, Section 2.)

COUNT TWO
(Securities Fraud)

The Grand Jury further charges:

2. From at least in or about November 2019 through at least
in or about September 2020, in the Southern District of New York
and elsewhere, TREVOR MILTON, the defendant, willfully and
knowingly executed a scheme and artifice to (a) defraud persons in
connection with securities of an issuer with a class of securities
registered under Secticon 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
and that was required to file reports under Section 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and (b) obtain, by means of false
and fraudulent pretenses, representations, and promises, money and
property in connection with the purchase and sale of securities of
an issuer with a class c¢f securities registered under Section 12
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and that was required to
file reports under Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of

1934, to wit, MILTON engaged in a scheme to defraud investors in
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Nikola through false and misleading statements regarding the
company’s product, technology, and business development.
(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1348 and 2.)

COUNT THREE
(Wire Fraud)

The Grand Jury further charges:

3. From at least in or about November 2019 through at least
in or about September 2020, in the Southern District of New York
and elsewhere, TREVOR MILTON, the defendant, willfully and
knowingly, having devised and intending to devise a scheme and
artifice to defraud, and for obtaining money and property by means
of false and fraudulent pretenses, representations, and promises,
transmitted and caused to be transmitted by means of wire, radio,
and television communication in interstate and foreign commerce,
writings, signs, signals, pictures, and sounds for the purpose of
executing such scheme and artifice, to wit, MILTON engaged 1in a
scheme to defraud investors in Nikola through false and misleading
statements regarding the company’s product, technology, and
business development, including through interstate wires.

(Title 18, United States code, Sections 1343 and 2.)

COUNT FOUR
(Wire Fraud)

4. From at least in or about April 2020 through at least in
or about March 2021, 1in the Southern District of New York and

elsewhere, TREVOR MILTON, the defendant, willfully and knowingly,
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having devised and intending to devise a scheme and artifice to
defraud, and for obtaining money and property by means of false
and fraudulent pretenses, representations, and promises,
transmitted and caused to be transmitted by means of wire, radio,
and television communication in interstate and foreign commerce,
writings, signs, signals, pictures, and sounds for the purpose of
executing such scheme and artifice, to wit, MILTON engaged in a
scheme to defraud the sellers of a property known as Wasatch Creeks
Ranch through false and misleading statements regarding Nikola’s
product, technology, and business development, and, as part of
that scheme, engaged in conduct designed to lull the sellers and
postpone actions by the sellers that would bring Milton’s false
and misleading statements to light, including through the use of
interstate wires.
(Title 18, United States code, Sections 1343 and 2.)

FORFEITURE ALLEGATION

5. As a result of committing one or more of the offenses
charged in Counts One through Four of this Indictment, TREVOR
MILTON, the defendant, shall forfeit to the United States, pursuant
to Title 18, United States Code, Sections 981 (a) (1) (C) and Title
28, United States Code, Section 2461, all property, real and
personal, that constitutes or is derived from proceeds traceable

to the commission of said offenses, including but not limited to
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a sum of money in United States currency representing the amount
of proceeds traceable to the commission of said offenses.

Substitute Assets Provision

6. If any of the above~described forfeitable property, as
a result of any act or omission by the defendant:
a. cannot be located wupon the exercise of due
diligence;
D. has been transferred or sold to, or deposited with,

a third party:

C. has been placed beyond the Jjurisdiction of the
court;

d. has been substantially diminished in value; or

e. has been commingled with other property which

cannot be divided without difficulty;
it is the intent of the United States, pursuant to Title 21, United
States Code, Section 853(p), and Title 28, United States Code
Section 2461, to seek forfeiture of any other property of the
defendant up to the value of the forfeitable property described
above.

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 881 (a) (1) (C); Title 21,

United States Code, Section 853(p); Title 28, United States
Code, Section 2461.)

@\a/m CO'W ﬁ.ﬂ/m/me
FOREPERSON  ~ DAMIAN WILLIAMS
United States Attorney
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Form No. USA-33s-274 (Ed. 9-25-58)

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

- V. —

TREVOR MILTON,

Defendant.

SUPERSEDING INDICTMENT

S1 21 Cr. 478 (ER)

(Title 15, United States Code, Sections
783 (b) and 78ff; Title 17, Code of Federal
Regulations, Section 240.10b-5; Title 18,
United States Code, Sections 2, 1343, and

1348.)

DAMIAN WILLIAMS
United States Attorney
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